CENTER FOR DEMOCRACY AND GOVERNANCE

"...promoting the transition to and consolidation of democratic regimes throughout the world."

A HANDBOOK ON FIGHTING CORRUPTION



February 1999

Technical Publication Series

Center for Democracy and Governance Bureau for Global Programs, Field Support, and Research U.S. Agency for International Development Washington, D.C. 20523-3100

TO ORDER THIS DOCUMENT FROM THE DEVELOPMENT EXPERIENCE CLEARINGHOUSE:

- C Please reference the document title (A Handbook on Fighting Corruption) and document identification number (PN-ACE-070).
- C USAID employees, USAID contractors overseas, and USAID sponsored organizations overseas may order documents at no charge.
- C Universities, research centers, government offices, and other institutions located in developing countries may order up to five titles at no charge.
- C All other institutions and individuals may purchase documents. Do not send payment. When applicable, reproduction and postage costs will be billed.

Fax orders to: (703) 351-4039 Attn: USAID Development Experience Clearinghouse (DEC)

E-mail orders to: docorder@dec.cdie.org

ABOUT THE TECHNICAL PUBLICATION SERIES

The USAID Center for Democracy and Governance Technical Publication Series was launched in March 1998. The series includes publications intended principally for USAID personnel; however, all persons interested in the sector may benefit from the series. Authors of individual publications may be USAID officials and/or other individuals from the public and private sector. The Center for Democracy and Governance reserves the right to review and edit all publications for content and format and all are subject to a broad USAID review process. The series is intended in part to indicate best practices, lessons learned, and guidelines for practitioner consideration. The series also includes publications that are intended to stimulate debate and discussion.

A list of other relevant publications and ordering information are included at the back of this document.

ABOUT THIS PUBLICATION

This handbook is intended to help USAID field staff make informed decisions with regard to developing anticorruption strategies. It outlines a framework for evaluating country-specific causes and appropriate responses to corruption, and describes anti-corruption work carried out by USAID and other organizations.

Comments regarding this handbook and inquiries regarding USAID's ongoing work in the area of anticorruption should be directed to:

Diana Swain, Team Leader, Governance

Tel: (202) 712-4234 Fax: (202) 216-3232 dswain@usaid.gov Phyllis Dininio, Governance Tel: (202) 712-0319 Fax: (202) 216-3232

pdininio@usaid.gov

Center for Democracy and Governance Bureau for Global Programs, Field Support, and Research U.S. Agency for International Development Washington, DC 20523-3100

ABOUT THE CENTER

The Center for Democracy and Governance is the U.S. Agency for International Development's focal point for democracy and governance programming. The Center's role is to provide USAID and other development practitioners with the technical and intellectual expertise needed to support democratic development. It provides this expertise in the following areas:

- C Rule of Law
- **C** Elections and Political Processes
- C Civil Society
- **C** Governance

For further information regarding the Center or the Technical Publication Series, please contact the Center for Democracy and Governance Information Unit at (202) 661-5847.

The Center would appreciate your comments as to the appropriateness and utility of this handbook. Please contact the Center with any comments or suggestions.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Phyllis Dininio

Phyllis Dininio is an anti-corruption specialist with the Center for Democracy and Governance and is the primary author of this handbook. She manages a \$2 million grant with Transparency International to launch anti-corruption programs in nine countries. While writing this handbook, she carried out corruption assessments and proposed anti-corruption interventions in Bulgaria and Romania. Dr. Dininio initiated and currently chairs an intra-agency anti-corruption working group. She has designed and led sessions on fighting corruption for USAID training workshops, and has developed an anti-corruption training module for new USAID democracy officers. She also organized and chaired a panel on the role of bilateral donors in fighting corruption for the 8th International Anti-Corruption Conference in Peru, and presented USAID anti-corruption activities at a World Bank workshop in Benin and an OECD/UNDP conference in Paris. Prior to joining the Center, she taught classes on democratization at Yale and Harvard Universities; wrote case studies for the Harvard Business School; analyzed Latin America issues for the Congressional Research Service; and carried out country risk analyses for Baybank Boston. Among her other publications, The Political Economy of East German Privatization is forthcoming from Greenwood Publishing. Dininio holds a B.A. in economics and sociology from Harvard University, an M.A. in political and economic development from the Fletcher School, and a Ph.D. in political science from Yale University.

Sahr John Kpundeh

Sahr John Kpundeh is a consultant with experience in governance and anti-corruption issues. He has been a consultant to the Economic Development Institute of the World Bank, the United States Agency for International Development, the United Nations Development Programme, and several commercial firms. He is the author of *Politics and Corruption in Africa: A Case Study of Sierra Leone* (University Press of America, 1995); co-editor of *Corruption and Integrity Improvement Initiatives in Developing Countries* (UNDP/OECD, 1998); co-editor of *Curbing Corruption: Toward a Model for Building National Integrity* (forthcoming, the World Bank); editor of *Democratization in Africa: African Views, African Voices* (National Academy Press, 1992); and author of several published articles on governance, democracy, and corruption. From 1991 to 1995, Dr. Kpundeh was a program officer on the Panel on Issues in Democracy and States in Transition at the National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C. Kpundeh holds a Ph.D. from Howard University.

A HANDBOOK ON FIGHTING CORRUPTION

CONTENTS

EXE	CUTIVE SUMMARY	1
I.	INTRODUCTION	3
II.	COSTS OF CORRUPTION	5
III.	DESIGNING A RESPONSE	7
	A. Causes of Corruption	7
	B. Inventory of Anti-corruption Measures	8
	C. Assessment Methodology	15
	D. Programming Guidance	16
IV.	USAID ANTI-CORRUPTION EFFORTS	19
	A. USAID/Washington	19
	B. Field Missions	20
	C. Indicators	20
V.	PARTNERS	23
	A. USAID Implementing Mechanisms	23
	B. International Organizations	
	C. Private and Nongovernmental Organizations	
	D. Other United States Government Offices	
	E. Web Sites	
BIBL	JOGRAPHY	25

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This handbook presents a framework to assist USAID missions develop strategic responses to public corruption. The framework sets out root causes of corruption, identifies a range of institutional and societal reforms to address them, and introduces a methodology for selecting among these measures.

In general terms, corruption arises from **institutional attributes** of the state and **societal attitudes** toward formal political processes. Institutional attributes that encourage corruption include wide authority of the state, which offers significant opportunities for corruption; minimal accountability, which reduces the cost of corrupt behavior; and perverse incentives in government employment, which induce self-serving rather than public-serving behavior. Societal attitudes fostering corruption include allegiance to personal loyalties over objective rules, low legitimacy of government, and dominance of a political party or ruling elite over political and economic processes.

Possible responses to these underlying causes of corruption include **institutional reforms** to limit authority, improve accountability, and realign incentives, as well as **societal reforms** to change attitudes and mobilize political will for sustained anti-corruption interventions. While the handbook offers detailed descriptions of different types of institutional and societal reforms, a strategy to fight corruption cannot and need not contain each of the institutional and societal reforms discussed. Strategy choices must be made after taking into account the nature of the corruption problem and the opportunities and constraints for addressing it.

Because a strategy must be tailored to fit the particular circumstances of a country, designing a strategy requires assessing the level, forms, and causes of corruption for the country as a whole and for specific government institutions. In particular, strategy formulation requires taking a hard look at the level of political will for anti-corruption reform in government and civil society. Opportunities for reform can stem from reformists' tendencies within the government, a change in government, public outrage over scandals, an opposition movement, an economic crisis, or external pressure. It is also essential to take careful stock of potential supporters and opponents within the ruling parties, the opposition, the judiciary, and the military, among others. The assessment must consider each party's interests and motivations and how these might play into an anti-corruption strategy.

If there is little or no opening to work in anti-corruption, the strategy should focus on societal measures to increase awareness of the problem and develop a constituency for reform. However, if openings are partial or significant, the strategy should combine societal reforms to institutionalize political will with targeted institutional reforms. The strategy should target institutions (such as the judiciary, police, or customs, licensing, procurement, and tax offices) where the problem of corruption is serious, yet the opening to work there is substantial (e.g., where there is a pro-reform minister).

Coordination with other multilateral and bilateral organizations and NGOs is critical to USAID's work. Accordingly, the final section of the handbook describes the work of other organizations involved with anti-corruption initiatives.

I. INTRODUCTION

This handbook aims to assist USAID missions and their partners develop anti-corruption initiatives. It draws upon the growing literature and practical experience in this field to provide guidance on strategies for fighting corruption. Although the problem itself is not new, opportunities to work in this area have emerged only recently. Indeed, corruption is no longer a taboo topic, but one that policymakers, businesses, civil society organizations, media, and donors from all regions are confronting openly.

A number of factors explain new interest in the issue. Since the end of the Cold War, donor governments have placed less emphasis on ideological grounds for foreign assistance and more emphasis on trade and development, both of which are undermined by corruption. At the same time, businesses have faced ever stiffer competition with the globalization of trade and capital markets, and have become less willing to tolerate the expense and risk associated with corruption. On the other end of the trade process, countries with high levels of corruption have found themselves less able to attract investment in a competitive global market. Over the same period, transitions to democracy have enabled citizens to use the vote and new-found civil liberties (e.g., freedom of speech, of assembly, etc.) to confront corruption, prompting leaders and opposition figures to show strong anti-corruption commitment.

This handbook on anti-corruption programming contains five sections. Section II lays out the development problems posed by corruption and articulates the need for anti-corruption programming. Section III provides a framework for developing responses to these problems. It identifies root causes of corruption which call for both institutional and societal reforms to address them. For both categories of reform, the handbook presents an inventory of anti-corruption measures. The handbook then lays out a framework for selecting among these

measures to design a USAID anti-corruption strategy in a specific country. This framework includes a methodology for assessing the nature of the corruption problem and the opportunities and constraints for addressing it. The framework links the assessment to a strategy, offering guidelines for prioritizing and sequencing anti-corruption activities in various situations.

Section IV of the handbook provides an overview of USAID anti-corruption efforts to date. It describes global bureau and regional bureau initiatives in Washington as well as missions' initiatives since 1996. This section also lists contracting mechanisms available for obtaining assistance in this area and suggests indicators for reporting results.

Section V provides an overview of the activities of other donors and organizations working in anti-corruption. It directs readers to additional information on recent anti-corruption initiatives by international organizations such as the World Bank, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), the International Monetary Fund (IMF), and the Organization of American States (OAS); private and nongovernmental organizations; and other agencies of the US government.

II. COSTS OF CORRUPTION

In broad terms, corruption is the abuse of public office for private gain. It encompasses unilateral abuses by government officials such as embezzlement and nepotism, as well as abuses linking public and private actors such as bribery, extortion, influence peddling, and fraud. Corruption arises in both political and bureaucratic offices and can be petty or grand, organized or unorganized. Though corruption often facilitates criminal activities such as drug trafficking, money laundering, and prostitution, it is not restricted to these activities. For purposes of understanding the problem and devising remedies, it is important to keep crime and corruption analytically distinct.

Corruption poses a serious development challenge. In the political realm, it undermines democracy and good governance by subverting formal processes. Corruption in elections and in legislative bodies reduces accountability and representation in policymaking; corruption in the judiciary suspends the rule of law; and corruption in public administration results in the unequal provision of services. More generally, corruption erodes the institutional capacity of government as procedures are disregarded, resources are siphoned off, and officials are hired or promoted without regard to performance. At the same time, corruption undermines the legitimacy of government and such democratic values as trust and tolerance

Corruption also undermines economic development by generating considerable distortions and inefficiency. In the private sector, corruption increases the cost of business through the price of illicit payments themselves, the management cost of negotiating with officials, and the risk of breached agreements or detection. Although some claim corruption reduces costs by cutting red tape, an emerging consensus holds that the availability of bribes induces officials to contrive new rules and delays. Where corruption inflates the cost of business, it also distorts the playing field,

shielding firms with connections from competition and thereby sustaining inefficient firms.

Corruption also generates economic distortions in the public sector by diverting public investment away from education and into capital projects where bribes and kickbacks are more plentiful. Officials may increase the technical complexity of public sector projects to conceal such dealings, thus further distorting investment. Corruption also lowers compliance with construction, environmental, or other regulations; reduces the quality of government services and infrastructure; and increases budgetary pressures on government.

These distortions deter investment and reduce economic growth. In quantitative terms, Mauro's analysis of 94 countries suggests that a reduction in corruption of 2.38 points on his 10-point scale would increase a country's annual investment by 4 percent of gross domestic product (GDP), and would increase annual growth of GDP per capita by 0.5 percent (Mauro 1997). The World Bank's The State in a Changing World, World Development Report 1997 further refines this relationship between corruption and investment by distinguishing between the level of corruption and the predictability of payments and outcomes. It suggests that investment drops off most in countries where corruption levels are high but the predictability of payments and outcomes is nonetheless low.

III. DESIGNING A RESPONSE

A. Causes of Corruption

Responding to the development challenges posed by corruption requires an understanding of its causes. From an institutional perspective, corruption arises where public officials have wide authority, little accountability, and perverse incentives. This means the more activities public officials control or regulate, the more opportunities exist for corruption. Furthermore, the lower the probability of detection and punishment, the greater the risk that corruption will take place. In addition, the lower the salaries, the rewards for performance, the security of employment, and the professionalism in public service, the greater the incentives for public officials to pursue selfserving rather than public-serving ends. This institutional perspective suggests fighting corruption through the following:

- C Reducing the role of government in economic activities (to limit authority)
- C Strengthening transparency, oversight, and sanctions (to improve accountability)
- C Redesigning terms of employment in public service (to improve incentives)

While this perspective gives us a parsimonious cut on the problem, it does not take into account socially-embedded incentives to participate in or withstand corrupt practices. Independent of opportunities, costs, and professional incentives within government institutions, general attitudes toward formal political processes influence corruption levels. A number of factors can predispose groups or societies to disregard formal rules. In many cultures, particularly in the context of poverty or conflict, allegiance to personal loyalties such as one's family or ethnic, religious, or socioeconomic identity outweighs allegiance to objective rules. Patronage systems, in fact, represent a common means of securing

advantage through personal rather than formalized channels. In other cases, the low legitimacy of government (because it is repressive, ineffective, discordant with culture, or imposed by foreign rule) induces disregard for formal rules. Similarly, dominance of a political party or ruling elite over political and economic processes, or exclusion of marginalized or poorly organized groups from the same, creates incentives for those disadvantaged by the system to operate outside it.

These considerations suggest anti-corruption efforts should also address attitudes toward corruption. Most generally, such efforts need to raise awareness about the costs of corruption for the country's political and economic development. This means convincing the public that corruption is an extremely damaging pattern of interaction for society as a whole, and that the collective damages over time outweigh any possible short-term personal benefits. Along with raising awareness, these efforts need to stimulate demand for reform, helping mobilize citizens and elites to push anti-corruption onto the political agenda. To the extent possible, anticorruption efforts should also address the underlying structures that create anti-system attitudes, for example, by improving the access of marginalized groups to the political arena.

Responses to corruption, therefore, include institutional reforms to limit authority, improve accountability, and change incentives, as well as **societal reforms** to change attitudes and mobilize political will for sustained anticorruption interventions. Within these two broad categories, the list of potential responses is extensive. What follows is an inventory of institutional and societal reforms. Clearly, however, it is not possible or even necessary to undertake all these initiatives in an anticorruption effort. The mix of initiatives, the relative emphasis placed on them, and the sequence in which they should be pursued will vary from country to country and from time to time. For this reason, the handbook does not

prescribe a model strategy for fighting corruption. Rather, it presents a framework for analyzing the problem and designing a strategy to fit the context. After presenting the inventory of possible initiatives, the handbook introduces a framework for deciding what needs to be done, in what sequence, and with what sort of political and economic support.

B. Inventory of Anti-corruption Measures

As discussed above, efforts to fight corruption include institutional reforms and societal reforms. Institutional reforms include measures to reduce government authority, increase accountability, and align official incentives to public ends. These measures target government institutions and processes in all branches and levels of government. Societal reforms, on the other hand, include measures to change attitudes toward formal political processes and to mobilize political will for anti-corruption reform.

1. Institutional Reforms: Limiting Authority

Privatization—Privatization offers a clear means to limit the authority of government. By removing the government from economic activities, it eliminates opportunities for recurrent corrupt dealing in sales, employment, procurement, and financing contracts. However, as many privatization programs have revealed, the process of privatizing state-owned enterprises and government services itself is vulnerable to corruption. To ensure the integrity of the process, privatization requires special measures of transparency. In addition, successful privatization programs require adequate regulatory and commercial legal frameworks to protect consumers and investors and to create conditions for competition. Without these frameworks in place, privatizing government operations may only shift rent-seeking from the public to the private sector. Indeed, in many developing and transitional countries. unregulated or poorly administered privatization

has enriched insiders through skewed prices and conversion of public monopolies to private ones.

Liberalization—Liberalization offers a more straightforward means to limit state authority. Eliminating tariffs, quotas, exchange rate restrictions, price controls, and permit requirements simply strips officials of the power to extract bribes. At the same time, removing such controls reduces transaction costs, eliminates bottlenecks, and fosters competition. In recent years, accession requirements to the World Trade Organization (WTO) have pushed many countries to liberalize their economies. For example, in joining the GATT (the WTO's predecessor) Mexico dropped the percentage of imports subject to licensing from 92 percent to 22 percent and reduced the average tariff from 23.5 percent to 12.5 percent. Transitions from communism have also entailed substantial recision of controls. A special presidential commission in Ukraine, for example, recently reduced the number of licenses required to open a business from 100 to about 55.

Competitive Procurement—Competitive procurement limits the authority of government officials thereby guarding against corruption. Competitive procurement removes personal discretion from the selection of government suppliers and contractors by prescribing an open bidding process and laying out clear procedures and criteria for selection. Because a corrupt procurement process can derail their development efforts, donors are making procurement reform a priority. For example, as an outcome of the 1997 Global Coalition for Africa's Policy Forum on Corruption, the World Bank is assisting the governments of Benin, Ethiopia, Malawi, Mali, Tanzania, and Uganda reform their procurement procedures. Yet, absent such government leadership, private firms may foster a competitive process. Through anti-bribery pacts such as Transparency International's "islands of integrity" approach, bidders agree not to pay bribes for a government contract and post sizable bonds that are subject to forfeiture in the event of non-compliance.

Firms in Ecuador, Argentina, and Panama are experimenting with anti-bribery pacts.

Competition in Public Service—Competition in public service reduces opportunity for corruption by removing the monopoly power of any one government office. In so doing, it discourages extortion since customers can take their business to a competing office when confronted with irregular demands or service. Overlapping jurisdictions, in the case of motor vehicle bureaus or passport agencies, or private and public provision of service, in the case of mail delivery or trash removal, are two ways of instituting competition in public service.

2. Institutional Reforms: Improving Accountability

Improving accountability entails efforts to improve both the detection and the sanctioning of corrupt acts. Better detection requires measures to improve transparency and oversight while better sanctioning involves establishing criminal and administrative sanctions, strengthening judicial processes, and improving electoral accountability. A description of such measures follows.

Freedom of Information Legislation—

Freedom of information legislation improves accountability by enhancing the transparency of government operations. It counteracts official secrets acts and claims of national security that impede corruption inquiries. Freedom of information legislation also informs citizens of the procedures for government service, curtailing attempts to subvert the system or to demand gratuities for information that legally should be public. The Ugandan government, for example, now displays in relevant offices the regulations, procedures, and fees for public services such as registering a vehicle or starting a company.

Financial Disclosure—Financial disclosure laws improve accountability by enhancing the transparency of officials' finances. The laws

require public officials to declare their assets and incomes and so act as a deterrent to profiting through corruption. Public officials can include cabinet ministers, members of parliament, and top civil servants. In some countries, laws require declarations upon accession to and departure from office. Other laws prescribe yearly monitoring. Countries including Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Nicaragua, Poland, Sierra Leone, Uganda, Tanzania, Sri Lanka, and Russia have recently passed such legislation. While in most cases the laws have elicited declarations, public access to them or verification of their accuracy has often been a problem.

Open Budget Process—Open budget processes improve accountability by enhancing transparency of government expenditures and income. While the principle applies equally to national and local level budgets, the immediacy of local government provides an impetus and entree for citizens to participate in the process that are often missing at the national level. For this reason, recent efforts to promote transparent budgeting have concentrated on the local level. For example, decentralization programs in Bolivia, Paraguay, and El Salvador have featured improved citizen participation in and oversight of local budget processes.

Financial Management Systems and Audit

Offices—Modern financial management systems improve accountability by enhancing transparency and oversight in government operations. Originally developed in response to the 1987 financial collapse in New York City, these systems apply high technology to the fight against financial mismanagement and corruption. Measures to improve financial management systems involve design of financial software, installation of hardware, and training of accounting and audit staff. Tools for financial management systems include the following:

C High-speed computer comparisons of data that can disclose such abuses as duplicate

- payments to suppliers, double-salaried staff, and retirees drawing remuneration
- C Computer-assisted audits allowing selected sampling of activities subject to abuse
- C Automatic flash points that call attention to repetitive or inappropriate budgetary maneuvers, or to deviations in areas of high vulnerability
- C General ledger controls over valuable resources such as land, buildings, vehicles, computers, and electronic equipment
- C Single bank accounts used to consolidate public funds and eliminate "off-budget" expenditures

Many governments in Latin America are installing financial management systems. For example, in 1996 Argentina announced a program to use modern methods of financial management to detect and prevent fraud in decentralized social security, customs, taxation, health insurance, and medical assistance agencies.

Inspector General/Ombudsmen/Anti-**Corruption Agency**—These government offices improve accountability by overseeing government operations. In general, they look into allegations of mismanagement and review administrative systems to ensure they adhere to anti-corruption procedures. Specific responsibilities and titles of these offices vary from country to country. For example, review of corruption allegations is undertaken by the Inspector General in Uganda, the Anti-Corruption Bureau in Tanzania, and the Unit for Monitoring Accountability and Transparency in Sierra Leone. In many cases these offices function narrowly as ombudsmen, registering citizen complaints and serving as public advocacy offices. In other cases, such as with Bolivia's UDECO (Unidad de Defensa Del Ciudadano contra la Corrupción), they coordinate anti-corruption efforts among

agencies. Still others have investigatory and prosecutorial powers (e.g., Peru's Tribunal for Public Ethics, Uruguay's *Defensoría del Pueblo*, and Botswana's Directorate on Corruption and Economic Crime). The Directorate on Corruption and Economic Crime (DCEC), modeled after a similar agency in Hong Kong, not only investigates and prosecutes offenders, but designs strategies to prevent corruption and engages in public education. Officially under the president's jurisdiction, it is operationally independent and can prosecute whomever it wishes. Although hampered by a slow court system, it boasts a high conviction rate and has collected fines in excess of its operating costs.

Legislative Oversight—Legislative oversight provides a powerful check on executive authority, enhancing accountability where a dominant executive branch might otherwise operate with impunity. To be effective, however, legislatures require such resources as a technically competent staff, strong committees, budgetary independence, significant bureaucratic oversight powers, and a constitutional role in approving political appointments. In many countries, legislatures lack such resources and are thus manipulated or bribed by strong executives. Programs to modernize legislatures and workshops to help members of parliament understand their role in governance aim to strengthen their oversight capacity. Requiring that anti-corruption agencies report to parliament, rather than the executive, also facilitates legislative oversight. Recently, amendments to legislation in Zambia and Uganda have directed the Anti-Corruption Commission and the inspector-general, respectively, to report to parliament rather than the head of state.

Since the late 1970s, restoration or establishment of democracy has produced stronger legislative bodies in many countries. Most notably in Latin America, newly-restored legislatures have taken a leading role in combating executive branch corruption. The most conspicuous example of this was the congressional impeachment of

Brazilian President Fernando Collor de Mello, initiated by the Parliamentary Commission of Inquiry. More recently, the Brazilian Senate formed a special committee to investigate allegations that government officials had been involved in fraudulent sales of government bonds. As another example, the Kuwaiti parliament has become quite assertive since its reinstatement following the Gulf War. Recently, it divulged the royal family's practice of demanding kickbacks for favors and exposed corrupt procurement procedures in the Ministry of Defense.

Hot Lines and Whistle-Blower Protection—

Hot lines improve accountability by enlisting coworkers, businesses, and citizens to report corrupt acts. The government office responsible for investigating such acts often operates a hot line. For example, in Hong Kong, the **Independent Commission Against Corruption** runs a hot line and guarantees that every allegation is investigated. It also protects those who make reports by granting file access to officers on a "need to know" basis only. However, in cases where anonymity cannot be guaranteed, those who protest corruption often place themselves at risk. In many countries, whistle blowers are often fired or punished, subjected to administrative harassment, and exposed to violence. For this reason, anticorruption efforts need legislation to protect whistle blowers from official sanctions or even to reward them. Uganda, in fact, is now considering a recommendation to reward officials who provide information leading to the successful recovery of embezzled public funds.

Sanctions—Applying sanctions to corrupt acts is an important step toward establishing accountability. In large part, sanctions are centered on legislation to criminalize corruption, which many countries have introduced in recent years. For example, in Uganda in 1995, the Law Reform Commission established that all embezzled monies must be returned to the state; misappropriated properties or goods must be forfeited; and mandatory minimum sentences

must be given for each offense. Similarly, in Malawi, the Corrupt Practices Act of 1995 prescribed criminal penalties for soliciting, offering, and accepting bribes, and authorized recovery of illicit proceeds from corruption.

In some countries, penal codes allow prosecution not only for direct evidence of bribery, but also for possessing wealth and income that cannot be traced to lawful activities. Such laws have been used successfully against drug lords in Colombia and against the brother of former President Carlos Salinas de Gotari in Mexico. A few countries, such as Thailand and Hong Kong, even place the burden of proof on the accused—a government official can be required to show that his or her wealth, and perhaps that of immediate relatives, was acquired legally. This issue was a point of disagreement during deliberations over the 1996 Inter-American Convention against Corruption. Many Latin American countries argued that requiring the government to prove illicit enrichment would be ineffective and that the burden of proof should be placed on the accused. The United States argued that the presumption of innocence ought to be a constitutional principle. Negotiations ultimately settled on the latter position.

In addition to criminalizing corruption, governments can establish sanctions for smaller cases of corruption outside the formal legal system. Authorities can fire public officials engaged in corrupt deals and render them ineligible for pension distributions or future public employment. Authorities can also deny public services to users found offering bribes, or revoke their eligibility to bid on procurement and privatization contracts, either on a permanent basis or for a period of time.

Judicial Reform—Accountability requires not just establishing sanctions, but enforcing them on an impartial basis. Without enforcement, tough laws have no impact on reducing corruption, and may foster general cynicism about reform efforts. Yet to hold public officials

accountable to anti-corruption laws, judiciaries need independence from the executive branch as well as institutional capacity. Strengthening judicial independence involves revising procedures for appointing, assigning, remunerating, and removing judges and prosecutors to insulate them from political influence. In some cases, judicial reforms have established an independent prosecutor, in addition to the public prosecutor, to carry out investigations of senior officials. Strengthening the institutional capacity of the judiciary, meanwhile, involves modernizing court systems to facilitate swift and fair procedures. This can be done by augmenting and upgrading staffs, improving legal training, establishing codes of conduct for judges, attorneys, clerks and litigants, and strengthening investigatory capabilities.

In recent years, targeted efforts to strengthen judicial independence and capacity have been most extensive in Latin America. A number of countries in the region have undertaken ambitious reforms to improve the skills, procedures, and infrastructure of the courts, often with donor assistance. Most notably, efforts to strengthen the office of prosecutor have gathered force. In Colombia, for example, the 1991 Penal Process Code grants significant investigatory powers to its Fiscalia General (Attorney General). This official is appointed to a four-year term by the Supreme Court and cannot be dismissed or reappointed. Colombia's Fiscal General, Alfonso Valdivieso, has achieved international renown for his prosecution of drug lords and high government officials. Operating with administrative and budgetary autonomy, the office investigates and brings charges before judges, directs and coordinates the functions of the Judicial Police, and protects victims, witnesses, and others involved in proceedings. As another example, the Honduran Public Ministry Law of 1993 created an independent and autonomous Fiscalia General. Among its five agencies is the Fiscalia General contra la Corrupción (Attorney General against Corruption), which has considerable resources and staff. For the first

time in the country's history, the *Fiscalia General* leveled charges against widespread corruption in the military.

Independent of such judicial reforms, political shifts can also provide openings for judicial assertiveness. The Indian Supreme Court, responding to a public interest lawsuit by journalists, put pressure on investigators to stop delaying a trial process. Public opinion polls show widespread backing for the court's activism that now extends to environmental and consumer protection, public health, campaign finance, and market reforms. Surveys rate it India's most trusted institution, followed by the press, with parliament last.

Elections—Free and fair elections provide an important mechanism for holding public officials accountable. Citizens can withhold votes from incumbents as a sanction against corruption, and elect opposition candidates denouncing such dealings. In Mexico, Tanzania, and Bulgaria, for example, voters have elected opposition candidates running on anti-corruption platforms. However, to work as a check on officials' actions, elections must be accompanied by meaningful guarantees of civil liberties to vote and run for office, as well as by fair voting procedures. Campaign finance poses a particular challenge for fairness and can be a significant source of corruption. For this reason, campaign finance reforms that limit or regulate donations. require disclosure of funds, provide free television time, and eliminate off-budget government funding sources are an important component of accountability.

3. Institutional Reforms: Realigning Incentives

Institutional reforms to fight corruption also include incentives to promote ethical behavior in public service. Such incentives feature active human resources management to develop a professional, committed work force. As a first step, personnel systems can eliminate unnecessary positions and reduce the number of

employees through hiring freezes and attrition, retirement packages, dismissals, and removal of ghost workers from payrolls. Personnel systems can also tighten job requirements, establish antinepotism regulations, develop codes of ethics, and provide training where needed. Compensation systems must then provide a living wage, but also ensure sufficient remuneration to attract and retain qualified personnel. In some cases, salary increases can be financed through reductions in force. In addition, performance-based incentives can bolster morale, professionalism, and productivity. Systems can link performance to compensation or to such non-monetary rewards as more challenging tasks, influential assignments, public recognition, and professional awards. Regular performance assessments become necessary components of an incentive system.

In the 1980s, Ghana introduced institutional reforms in tax and customs administration. The government dismissed or retired the most corrupt officials, improved wages and working conditions, and offered performance incentives for individuals and for the National Revenue Service as a whole. Revenue targets were established, and the National Revenue Service was given a bonus of 3.5 percent of tax revenue and 2.5 percent of customs revenue. As a result, tax and customs revenue rose from 6.6 percent to 12.3 percent of GDP between 1984 and 1988.

4. Societal Reforms: Changing Attitudes and Mobilizing Political Will

In addition to institutional reforms, efforts to fight corruption include societal reforms to change attitudes toward formal political processes and to mobilize political will for change. Societal reforms generate new information about the costs and causes of corruption to stimulate demand for change and provide guidance on what to change. Societal reforms also foster structures to facilitate monitoring and advocacy by civil society. Without the mobilization of civil society, governments are unlikely to follow through on

anti-corruption reforms once they enter politically difficult terrain.

Surveys—Surveys work to change attitudes and mobilize political will by defining the problem and focusing efforts to address it. Surveys can address the issue of corruption directly (e.g., corruption perception surveys) or approach it indirectly in politically sensitive situations (e.g., service delivery surveys). Corruption perception surveys ask individuals or businesses for their perception or experience of corrupt practices, often generating comparisons across branches and levels of government for national surveys, or across countries for international surveys. In its annual Corruption Perception Index, Transparency International draws upon seven international surveys of business people, political analysts, and the general public to rate approximately 50 countries on perceived levels of corruption. Service delivery surveys, by contrast, ask public service users about their satisfaction with specific services, such as utilities, housing, health, or education. While they may ask the total cost, waiting time, and negotiating time for service, these surveys do not ask for an appraisal of the level of corruption. They nonetheless provide essential information to help design reforms, monitor results, and ultimately make services more responsive to citizens' demands. The Economic Development Institute (EDI) of the World Bank and CIET International have assisted governments conduct service delivery surveys in Bosnia, Nicaragua, Tanzania, Uganda, Mali, and Jordan.

Public Relations Campaigns—Public relations campaigns work to increase understanding about the harm done by corruption and the ways to fight it. Using the mass media, community activities, or school programs, they highlight the link between corruption and poorer public services, lower investment, smaller growth rates, and more inequality. They also emphasize citizens' rights to services and demonstrate that corrupt officials are stealing the public's money. At the same time, these campaigns articulate

procedures for reporting corrupt practices and advocating for reform. Once people feel they have a stake in eliminating corruption and the means to do something about it, they can demand more action from their representatives and strengthen political will. Notable sponsors of public relations campaigns include *Poder* Ciudadano, an Argentine NGO that developed imaginative television and radio spots denouncing corruption and sponsored an anticorruption poster contest for school children; and Hong Kong's Independent Commission Against Corruption which has used press releases, public information announcements, interviews, documentaries, posters, information leaflets, meetings, public speaking, and work on school and university curricula to convey an anti-corruption message to the public.

Investigative Journalism—Investigative journalism fosters anti-corruption attitudes and mobilizes political will for reform. In exposing corrupt acts, investigative reporting elicits popular indignation about corruption and puts pressure on the government to change. It is precisely this risk of exposure that motivates governments to censor the press and jail journalists. A free press, however, is not necessarily sufficient in the fight against corruption. In many countries, journalists need training about investigative techniques, professional standards, and newsroom organization. In Tanzania and Uganda, EDI organized workshops to train investigative journalists. These workshops were designed to raise the skills and confidence of journalists and to cultivate the media's commitment to fight corruption.

Civic Advocacy Organizations—Civil society, where it is free to organize and act, can become a vital partner in developing and strengthening ethical practices in the public sector. While a growing number of civic advocacy organizations (CAOs) have emerged to fight corruption, a range of other civil society organizations can contribute to the cause without being organized specifically for that purpose. Most prominently,

business and professional associations can be weighty advocates for government reform and at the same time effective champions of professional standards and self-regulation. For example, in 1996, the International Chamber of Commerce adopted rules of conduct that prohibit extortion and bribery for any purpose. The Chamber is working with national governments to enact or strengthen legislation combating extortion and bribery. Similarly, bar and accounting associations have established task forces on corruption and added the topic to meeting agendas. Religious groups, such as the Islamic community in Indonesia, can also exhort their members and political leaders to resist corruption.

CAOs also have been formed to analyze corruption problems, monitor public officials, and advocate for government reform. A few, like the 70-plus national chapters of Transparency International, are dedicated entirely to fighting corruption, while others have a broader focus. In Bulgaria, The Center for the Study of Democracy, for example, focuses more broadly on economic and legal reform; Alianza Civica in Mexico aims to increase competition and the accountability of the political system; and Groupe Nouvelle Ethique in Benin works to change public attitudes toward work, education, and democracy, as well as corruption. NGOs in other sectors, such as environment and health, are also developing their capability to advocate transparency and integrity. Consequently, in many countries, broad coalitions of CAOs have formed to fight corruption. Measures to strengthen their efforts include providing technical assistance and training on technical, financial, and organizational issues, and building an enabling environment to allow for their financial independence.

Workshops—Workshops offer an effective venue for changing attitudes about corruption and mobilizing political will for reform. Workshops strive to increase understanding of corruption and to generate practical strategies for reducing it. To do so, they rely on

participatory diagnosis of the problems and development of an action plan, usually over the course of two to three days. Workshops—ranging from national integrity workshops with participants from the highest levels of government and civil society, to subnational workshops that bring together local political, economic, and social leaders, to workshops targeting a particular ministry or agency—can target many levels and parts of government. Transparency International and EDI have helped organize national integrity workshops in Uganda, Tanzania, Malawi, Mauritius, Ukraine, and Nicaragua.

International Pressure—Pressure from foreign governments and international organizations can mobilize and sustain domestic efforts to fight corruption. Bilateral diplomacy at the highest levels or through embassies, exhortations from international bodies such as the United Nations, and strong recommendations or conditionality from development assistance agencies can push reluctant reformers to address corruption issues. For example, World Bank president James Wolfensohn has effectively used his position to prod governments into action. International or regional treaties against corruption, such as the OAS Inter-American Convention Against Corruption, can also contribute to increasing official resolve to tackle the issues and initiate positive change.

C. Assessment Methodology

A strategy to fight corruption cannot and need not contain each of the institutional and societal reforms described. Rather, a strategy should fit the particular circumstances of a country, taking into account the nature of the corruption problem as well as the opportunities and constraints for addressing it. Therefore, designing a strategy requires an assessment of the extent, forms, and causes of corruption for the country as a whole and for specific government institutions. At the same time, strategy formulation requires taking a close look at the political will for anti-corruption reform in

government and civil society. Such an assessment entails a political economy analysis of the reform process to identify supporters and opponents of anti-corruption reform and their respective interests and resources.

The extent of corruption provides the first analytical cut of the assessment. The extent of corruption can range from sporadic, occurring in isolated intervals with no apparent order, to pervasive, permeating most government institutions in a country or affecting most activities within a specific institution. Sporadic corruption can pose problems for development, but does not have the same corrosive effect on political and economic systems as pervasive corruption. While the detriment caused by pervasive corruption makes it a key development issue, the comparatively lesser damage caused by sporadic corruption may not merit spending resources that could be invested in other development objectives.

Determining the form of corruption is the next step of the assessment. Is the corruption petty, involving lower-level officials and smaller resources, or is it grand, operating at the highest levels of government with huge sums of money? Is the corruption organized vertically, linking subordinates and superiors in a system of payoffs? Is it organized horizontally, linking separate branches of government or agencies in a corrupt network? Is it not organized at all? Does the corruption entail unilateral abuses by government officials (e.g., embezzlement and nepotism) or does it link public and private actors (e.g., through bribery, extortion, and fraud)? Similarly, is the corruption linked to organized crime or the military, entrenched in patterns of patronage, or embedded in elite networks? Finally, in what government institutions is corruption concentrated? For example, is the chief problem found in the customs agency, in government procurement, in tax collection, or in the police?

The next level of analysis examines the causes of the different forms of corruption. For the country as a whole, what institutional problems or societal attitudes contribute to corruption? How do these institutional and attitudinal problems vary across institutions and regions within the country? For example, is the issue of wide government authority problematic in all areas or just in certain activities? Are there effective mechanisms of accountability or proper incentives in some institutions or levels of government? How do these operate? Are they replicable? Do anti-system attitudes vary across government institutions—between public education and tax collection, for example—or between national and subnational governments, or between different regional governments? Why?

Following an analysis of the corruption problem, the assessment must examine the opportunities and constraints for addressing it. The central issue for strategy development is the opportunity for reform in a country. While in many countries, there is limited or no opportunity to address the issue of corruption directly, in others, there may be partial or significant opening for reform. Openings to work in anti-corruption can arise from the following:

- C A change in government (e.g., the election of Stoyanov in Bulgaria, the impeachment of Bucaram in Ecuador, the resignation of Suharto in Indonesia, or the death of Abacha in Nigeria)
- C Public outrage around scandals (e.g., the 1973 scandal involving a high-ranking police officer in Hong Kong)
- C An opposition movement focusing attention on corruption (e.g., Mexico's two opposition parties campaigning against the ruling PRI)
- C An economic crisis (e.g., South Korea's financial market collapse)
- C External pressure (e.g., the IMF and World Bank conditionality imposed on Kenya)

Beyond such openings, the assessment needs to ascertain the broad level of support for and

opposition to anti-corruption reform. That is, the assessment needs to identify supporters and opponents of reform among the ruling party, the opposition, the bureaucracy, subnational governments, the judiciary, the military, business, labor, civic groups, organized crime, donors, and foreign governments. It is also important to identify motivations and resources for supporting or opposing anti-corruption efforts. Motivations can be political, economic, or moral in nature, while resources can include investment capital, foreign assistance, coercion, votes, policy instruments, and moral authority.

D. Programming Guidance

A strategy to fight corruption must respond to the nature of the problem and the opportunities and constraints for addressing it. As suggested above, the extent of corruption provides the first decision-point in developing a strategy. Where corruption is sporadic, USAID missions' resources should probably best be used on other programming areas. However, where corruption is pervasive, USAID missions should further evaluate anti-corruption program options.

The degree of opening for reform is the second factor to consider when crafting a strategy. If there is little or no opening for reform, the strategy should concentrate on societal measures to increase awareness of the problem and mobilize political will for fighting corruption.

Examples of societal measures useful when there is little or no opening for reform:

- C Supporting critics of corruption
- C Fostering anti-corruption networks
- C Publicizing procedures and rights
- C Conducting service-delivery or corruptionperception surveys
- C Communicating the costs of corruption

- C Promoting a free press
- C Increasing pressure from international organizations, foreign governments, and investors to take the issue seriously

At the same time, USAID missions may be able to support less politically sensitive institutional measures to reduce corruption. Institutional measures to limit the state's authority, such as economic liberalization, privatization, and procurement reform, may fit that criteria as they are often viewed in more technical, apolitical terms. Institutional measures to realign incentives, such as civil service reform, may also be feasible even where there is little or no opening for anti-corruption reform per se. On the other hand, measures to improve accountability are not likely to be supported by a government disinterested in or hostile to reducing corruption.

If, on the other hand, there is partial or significant opening for reform, the strategy should combine societal and institutional measures to combat corruption. Even though support for fighting corruption exists, societal measures are still needed to broaden awareness and institutionalize political will.

Examples of institutional and societal measures useful when there is support for reform:

- C Targeting government institutions where the corruption problem is serious and political will for change exists (often derived from a highlevel official who identifies his or her tenure with fighting corruption)
- C Identifying specific interventions based upon root causes of the problem—wide authority, little accountability, or perverse incentives
- C Sponsoring integrity workshops
- C Fostering anti-corruption NGOs
- C Encouraging anti-corruption advocacy

- C Promoting civic monitoring
- C Providing training in investigative journalism
- C Promoting private sector efforts to prevent corruption
- C Advocating international cooperation and conventions

For example, significant corruption in the customs authority and the presence of a reformer at its highest level may direct USAID anticorruption assistance to that institution. The specific reforms in customs may target personnel systems and ethics codes if perverse incentives are the main problem; transparency and oversight if little accountability is the main problem; or elimination and simplification of tariffs if wide authority is the main problem. More commonly, the reform of any government institution will incorporate some combination of these measures.

As the foregoing makes clear, there is no silver bullet or singular response to corruption that will work in all circumstances. Just as corruption stems from a variety of institutional failings and societal predispositions, responses to corruption must vary to address particular causes. interventions will vary, use of societal measures to build and maintain awareness and political will is key to sustaining the effort. Where corruption is pervasive, the fight against it must be a public as well as a technocratic affair.

CAUSES OF AND RESPONSES TO CORRUPTION

CAUSES OF AND RESPONSES TO CORRUPTION		
Institutional Causes	Institutional Responses	
Wide authority	Limit authority E.g., privatization, liberalization, competitive procurement, competition in public services	
Minimal accountability	Improve accountability through:	
	Transparency , e.g., freedom of information legislation, financial disclosure, open budget process, financial management systems	
	Oversight , e.g., audit offices, inspectors general/ombudsmen/anti-corruption agency, legislative oversight, hot lines, and whistle-blower protection	
	Sanctions , e.g., electoral, criminal, and administrative sanctions, judicial reform	
Perverse incentives	Realign incentives, e.g., living wage, performance-based incentives, professionalization, ethics codes, eliminating redundant and ghost workers	
Societal Causes	Societal Responses	
Anti-system attitudes	Raise awareness about costs of corruption and mobilize political will for reform, e.g., through surveys, public relations campaigns, investigative journalism, civic advocacy organizations, workshops, international pressure	

Moreover, responses must conform to a politically-constrained reality, adapting to the opportunities and constraints for fighting corruption at a given time. While the mix of

IV. USAID ANTI-CORRUPTION EFFORTS

A. USAID/Washington

In response to new opportunities and interest in working against corruption, USAID/Washington has taken a number of steps to promote Agency anti-corruption efforts. In December 1997, representatives from the Global Bureau (G), the Latin American and Caribbean Bureau (LAC), the Eastern Europe and New Independent States Bureau (ENI), the Asia and Near East Bureau (ANE), the Africa Bureau (AFR), the Bureau for Humanitarian Response (BHR), the General Counsel's Office (GC), and the Inspector General's Office (IG) convened an anticorruption working group that meets monthly to exchange information and coordinate work. Given the cross-sectoral nature of corruption, both economic growth and democracygovernance officers participate in the group. A subcommittee of the working group is developing policy guidance for Agency anticorruption activities.

Coordinated through the working group, several bureaus are co-sponsoring anti-corruption workshops with the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). The group aims to broaden discussion of the OECD anti-bribery convention signed in December 1997. The LAC bureau co-sponsored a regional workshop in Argentina in September 1998; the ENI bureau co-sponsored a regional workshop in Turkey in October 1998; and the ANE bureau is co-sponsoring a regional workshop in the Philippines in July 1999. In addition, the Center for Democracy and Governance (G/DG), the Center for Economic Growth (G/EG), and ENI are co-sponsoring an international conference on the role of the private sector in fighting corruption. The conference will be held in Washington, D.C. in February 1999.

G/DG is also supporting anti-corruption efforts through a grant with Transparency International (TI). This grant, initiated in September 1997, provides \$2 million for intensive anti-corruption work in nine countries and for regional lessonslearned workshops. The country programs will start with an integrity workshop to help groups diagnose corruption problems and develop action plans to fight them. The grant targets Bulgaria, Ukraine, Bangladesh, Philippines, Benin, Ghana, Mozambique, Colombia, and the Dominican Republic. G/DG is also contracting with the Center for Institutional Reform and the Informal Sector (IRIS) to document four case studies of successful anti-corruption interventions that will feed into the regional workshops organized by TI.

Regional bureaus are also developing anticorruption initiatives. In 1998, the LAC Bureau initiated an assessment of its Regional Financial Management Improvement Project II, designed to improve governmental accountability and financial management. The bureau plans to issue a follow-on contract in 1999. The LAC project hosts a donor consultative group, publishes a monthly newsletter entitled Accountability/Anticorruption, sponsors regional teleconferences called Respondacon, and provides technical assistance. In December 1997, the ENI Bureau established an anti-corruption working group, developed an anti-corruption strategy for the region, and set aside funds over two years for anti-corruption support. Building on the LAC model, the bureau will use a contractor to establish a donor consultative group, support training workshops, assist assessment and strategy-design exercises, develop a newsletter and other information linkages, and write reports and program materials. Similarly, ANE has set aside money for an anti-corruption strategy.

LAC is also consulting with the Organization of American States (OAS) and the Inter-American Development Bank on follow-up workshops to the Inter-American Convention Against Corruption and the Summit of the Americas. LAC, USAID/Nicaragua, and USAID/Guatemala also collaborated with the

World Bank's Economic Development Institute on a Central America Regional Integrity Workshop held in September 1998. The workshop was designed to yield national action plans to fight corruption, with a special emphasis on harmonizing anti-corruption related statutes in the region. ENI is working with the World Bank on anti-corruption workshops and programs in Georgia and Albania and through the State Department's Coordinator's Office to coordinate anti-corruption efforts in Ukraine and Russia.

B. Field Missions

A number of USAID missions have begun developing anti-corruption programs. Through a G/DG grant to TI, missions in Benin, Ghana, Bangladesh, Philippines, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Bulgaria, and Ukraine are helping establish local TI chapters, funding anti-corruption surveys, and launching integrity workshops. In addition to their work with TI:

- C USAID/Bulgaria is funding a coalition of NGOs dedicated to fighting corruption.
- C USAID/Ukraine is sponsoring local integrity workshops in two *oblasts* (regional level government), to provide training in investigative journalism, and to support advocacy for public hearings and freedom of information laws.
- C USAID/Benin is providing assistance to the Chamber of Accounts of the Supreme Court and the Inspector General's Office of the Ministry of Finance.

Other missions have also begun working in this area:

C USAID/Nicaragua recently conducted a survey of public perceptions of corruption and is carrying out a public education campaign on citizens' rights and responsibilities. It is also supporting local watchdog organizations, and is providing

- assistance for an integrated financial management system.
- C In 1998 USAID/Russia allocated funds toward new programs in judicial ethics and organization; the establishment of a court bailiff service; financial disclosure and government procurement issues; and the development of standardized auditing and accounting procedures.
- C USAID/Georgia and USAID/Albania have funded surveys of corruption perceptions and are working with the World Bank to develop anti-corruption programs.
- C USAID/Tanzania has supported audit training in the Office of Controller Auditor General and has funded civil society organizations to hold anti-corruption workshops and produce anti-corruption pamphlets for students in secondary schools.
- C USAID/Madagascar has sponsored a series of seminars for the Inspector General's Office and the Office of Accounts.
- C USAID/Peru has provided support for the modernization of the Controller General's Office.
- C USAID/South Africa and USAID/Guatemala have funded work on ethics legislation.
- C Missions in El Salvador, Paraguay, and the Central Asian Republics are funding anti-corruption assessments.

C. Indicators

Performance monitoring is a necessary and integral part of good program management. For U.S. government-funded programs, it fulfils the intent of the 1994 *Government Performance and Results Act* (the Results Act). To this end, performance information is combined with broader trend information within the Agency's goal areas to report results to the Office of

Management and Budget, Congress, and the public. Nevertheless, the primary purpose of performance indicators is to assist in making programmatic decisions and learning from past experience.

The following indicators are suggestive. A more comprehensive list of indicators for rule of law, elections, civil society, and governance programming can be found in G/DG's *Handbook of Democracy and Governance Indicators* (PN-ACC-390). Please refer to this document for more details. For ordering information, see back inside cover of this publication.

1. Indicators of Government Performance

- C Public perceptions of corruption in the delivery or provision of selected government services, as reported in opinion polls
- C Perceptions of corruption by surveys of business persons or firms attempting to do business with the state
- C Time and real cost to customers of getting a license from a selected licensing agency or a connection to utilities through a government utilities company

2. Indicators of Anti-Corruption Laws and Regulations

- C Establishment of a code of conduct or other legally binding statements for elected and government officials
 - 3. Indicators of Oversight Mechanisms on Maintenance of Ethical Standards
- C Maintenance and adequate funding of an independent auditor-general's office or equivalent organization that regularly audits government accounts; an inspector-general's office that regularly monitors government contracting and procurement practices; or an

- office of government ethics to monitor and implement a code of ethics
- C Percent of government budget audited according to required standards in the last financial year and/or percent of government contracts and procurements reviewed by the inspector general's office
- C Percent/number of government departments/agencies with audit findings (e.g., that find an error) and/or equivalent for inspections of contracts and procurements
- C Percent/number of examples of full investigation of significant breaches of procedures or ethics at relatively high level being pursued fully and fairly to transparent outcome, and if necessary, to enforcement/punishment
- C Effectiveness of legislative oversight
- C Number of NGOs with specialized capacity to analyze, monitor and publicize government corruption

4. Professionalization of Recruitment and Management

- C Percentage of new officers recruited by competitive exam conducted in a "fair" manner
- C Number or percent of government financial/accounting systems operating under an integrated financial management system

V. PARTNERS

A. USAID Implementing Mechanisms

G/DG supports Transparency International's program to strengthen public support for anticorruption programs and enhance transparency and accountability in government through an ongoing cooperative agreement. In addition, G/DG has several mechanisms available to assist USAID missions in the design, implementation, and evaluation of anti-corruption activities. The mechanisms are described in detail in *The* Center for Democracy and Governance User's Guide. Briefly, they include (1) the Implementing Policy Change contract with Management Systems International which can be tapped to help public and private organizations manage the development and implementation of new policies, including those related to anti-corruption; and (2) Indefinite Quantities Contracts with Associates in Rural Development, Development Alternatives, and Casals and Associates. The three IQCs, all of which are for general governance-related activities, including anti-corruption work, are scheduled to expire March 31, 1999. It is planned that they will be replaced by two anticorruption specific IQCs. USAID Global Bureau's Center for Economic Growth has IQCs with the Center for Institutional Reform and the Informal Sector (IRIS) and Associates in Rural Development/Checci, both of which can also be tapped for anti-corruption work.

B. International Organizations

International organizations actively involved in the issue of anti-corruption include the following:

- C Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD)
- C The World Bank
- C The International Monetary Fund (IMF)
- C United Nations

- C Organization of American States (OAS)
- C Global Coalition for Africa (GCA)
- C Council of Europe
- C Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC)
- C Regional Development Banks
- C World Trade Organization (WTO)
- C International Chamber of Commerce (ICC)

C. Private and Nongovernmental Organizations

Transparency International (TI)—Founded in 1993, TI now has local chapters in over 70 countries. TI builds national, regional, and global coalitions embracing the state, civil society, and the private sector to fight corruption. TI assists in the design and implementation of effective integrity systems and collects, analyzes, and disseminates information to raise public awareness about the damaging impact of corruption. TI has developed a *Source Book on Integrity Systems* and an annual corruption perception index, both available on their web site.

Soros Foundation—The Soros Foundation provides assistance to TI and to local NGOs for anti-corruption work in Eastern Europe and the New Independent States.

The Asia Foundation (TAF)—TAF has a core regional project in anti-corruption, with programs in Korea, Indonesia, Vietnam, Thailand, Bangladesh, and Nepal. It specializes in constituency-building and demandarticulation for anti-corruption reform.

Institutional Reform and the Informal Sector (IRIS)—IRIS organized a training seminar on anti-corruption in Senegal, documented an anti-corruption mechanism for food aid in Nepal, and researched the effects of weak governance on the ability of West African nations to mobilize resources for basic services.

National Democratic Institute (NDI)—NDI

assisted the South African and Turkish parliaments with adopting ethics codes and has held symposiums on ethics and transparency in Paraguay and Southern Africa.

International Republican Institute (IRI)—IRI

held national conference in Guatemala to promote ethics and accountability in the political process.

D. Other U.S. Government Offices

Vice President Al Gore and other high level U.S. government officials have undertaken bilateral missions to promote anti-corruption initiatives. In addition to USAID, other U.S. government offices have helped a number of foreign governments establish ethics offices and develop ethics codes, worked with OECD to develop an ethics checklist, participated in technical exchanges with the Chinese government on oversight functions, provided technical assistance to supreme audit institutions in a range of presence countries, broadcast, and/or worked to identify transparency as a theme for President Bill Clinton's trip to Africa in 1998.

They include the following:

- C U.S. Office of Government Ethics (OGE)
- C State Department's Office of Inspector General
- C Department of Commerce
- C Department of State
- C U.S. Information Agency

E. Web Sites

All of the previously mentioned organizations have updated web sites to facilitate access to information on their work.

The Asian Development Bank

http://www.adb.org

Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation

http://www.apecsec.org.sg

Council of Europe

http://www.coe.fr/index.asp

Global Coalition for Africa

http://www.gca-cma.org

The Inter-American Development Bank

http://www.iadb.org

International Chamber of Commerce

http://www.iccwbo.org

The International Monetary Fund

http://www.imf.org

The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development

http://www.oecd.org

Organization of American States

http://www.oas.org

Transparency International

http://www.transparency.org

United Nations

http://www.un.org

U.S. Agency for International Development

http://www.usaid.gov

The U.S. Department of Commerce

http://www.ita.doc.gov/legal

The U.S. Information Agency

http://www.usia.gov/topical/econ/bribes

The U.S. Office of Government Ethics

http://www.usoge.gov

The U.S. State Department (Office of Inspector General)

http://www.state.gov/www/dept/oig/index.html

The Vice President's Office

http://www.whitehouse.gov/WH/EOP/OVP/html/Gore_Home.h

tm

The World Bank

http://www.worldbank.org

World Trade Organization

http://www.wto.org

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ades, Alberto, and Rafael di Tella. "Competition and Corruption." Working Paper, Oxford University Institute of Economics and Statistics, 1994.
- Alam, M. "Some Economic Costs of Corruption in LDCs." Journal of Development Studies 27: 89-97 (1991).
- Alam, M. "A Theory of Limits on Corruption and Some Applications." Kyklos 48(3): 419-35 (1995).
- Alatas, S. Corruption: Its Nature, Causes and Functions. Aldershot, 1990.
- Anduiig, Jens and Kalle Moene. "How Corruption May Corrupt." Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization 13 (1990).
- Anechiarico, Frank, and James B. Jacobs. The Pursuit of Absolute Integrity. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1996.
- Banfield, Edward. "Corruption as a Feature of Governmental Organizations." Journal of Law and Economics 3 (1975).
- Barker, Anthony. *The Upturned Stone: Political Scandals in Twenty Democracies and Their Investigation Processes*. Essex Papers in Politics and Government. No. 92, Location University of Essex, 1992.
- Barlow, C.H.M. "Ethical Codes for African Administrations: Nature, Content, Limitations and Required Improvements." In Sadig Rasheed Olowu, ed. *Ethics and Accountability in African Public Service*. Nairobi, Kenya: ICIPE Science Press, 1993.
- Beenstock, Michael. "Corruption and Development." World Development 7:15-24.
- Berkman, Steve. "Corruption and its Impact on Contract Management." Mimeograph, World Bank, Washington, D.C., 3 April 1995.
- Besley, Timothy, and John McLaren. "Taxes and Bribery: The Role of Wage Incentives." *The Economic Journal* 103: 119-41 (1993).
- Building a Global Coalition Against Corruption: Transparency International Report 1995. Berlin: Transparency International, 1995
- Caiden, Gerald E. and Jung H. Kim. "A New Anti-Corruption Strategy for Korea." *Asian Journal of Political Science* 1(1) (June 1993).
- Callahan, Daniel. "Legislative Codes of Ethics." In New York. *Representation and Responsibility: Exploring Legislative Ethics*. Bruce Jennings and Daniel Callahan, eds. New York: Plenum Press, 221-34 (1985).
- Carino, Ledivinia V. ed. Bureaucratic Corruption in Asia: Causes, Consequences and Controls. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1988.
- Charlick, Robert. "Corruption and Political Transition: A Governance Perspective." Corruption and Reform 7(3): 177-88 (1993).
- Chew, D.C.E. "Internal Adjustments to Falling Civil Salary: Insights from Uganda." World Development 18(7) (July 1990).
- Chubb, Judith. "The Social Bases of an Urban Political Machine: The Christian Democrat Party in Palermo," In Shmuel N. Eisenstadt, and Rene Lemarchand, eds., *Political Clientelism, Patronage and Development*. London: Sage, 1981.
- Clark, David. "Dirigisme in an Asian City State: Hong Kong's ICAC." Paper presented at the Thirteenth World Congress, International Political Science Association, Paris, 1985.
- Clark, Michael, ed. Corruption: Causes, Consequences and Control. Pinter, 1983.
- Coronel, Gustavo, "Curbing Corruption in Venezuela." Journal of Democracy 7(3): 157-63 (1996).

- Coronel, Gustavo. Venezuela: La Agonia del Subdesarrollo. Caracas. 1990.
- Correa, Hector. "Comparative study of bureaucratic corruption in Latin America and the USA." *Socioeconomic Planning Science* 19(1): 63-79 (1985).
- North/South Center, Corruption and the Consolidation of Democracy in Latin America. University of Miami, 1995.
- United Nations Development Programme. "Corruption and Good Governance." Discussion Paper 3. MDGD, 1997.
- Dia, Mamadou. A Governance Approach to Civil Service Reform in SubSaharan Africa. World Bank Technical Paper 225. Washington, D.C. (1993).
- Dobel, J.P. "The Corruption of a State." American Political Science Review 72(3): 958-73 (September 1978).
- Doig, Alan. "Good Government and Sustainable Anti-corruption Strategies: A Role for Independent Anti-corruption Agencies?" In Rick Stapenhurst and Kpundeh, eds. *Fighting Corruption: Lessons of Experience*. EDI Seminar Series. Washington, D.C.: World Bank, forthcoming, 1997.
- Eigen, Peter. "Combating Corruption Around the World." Journal of Democracy (1996).
- Elliot, Kimberly, ed. Corruption and the Global Economy. Washington, D.C.: Institute for International Economics, 1997.
- Ericson, Richard E. "The Russian Economy Since Independence." In Gail Lapidus, ed. *The New Russia: Troubled Transformation*. Boulder, Colo.: Westview Press, 1995.
- "Ethics, Accountability and Transparency in Uganda: Assessing Current Situation and Looking Ahead." Report on a Mission to Uganda. Economic Development Institute of the World Bank and Transparency International, Washington, D.C.: February 1995.
- Etzione, Amitai. "The Fight against Fraud and Abuse." Journal of Policy Analysis and Management 2: 26-38 (1982).
- Euben, J.P. "On Political Corruption." The American Review 36(1): 103-18 (Winter 1978).
- Feld, Werner J. Multinational Corporations and UN Politics: The Quest for Codes of Conduct. New York: Pergamon Press, 1980
- Flynn, Peter. "Collor, Corruption and Crisis: Time for Reflection." Journal of Latin American Studies 24: 351-71 (1993).
- Gardiner, J. "Defining Corruption." Paper Presented at the Fifth International Anti-corruption Conference, Amsterdam, March 1992.
- Geddes, Barbara, and Artur Riberiro Neto. "Institutional Sources of Corruption in Brazil." *Third World Quarterly* 13(4): 6-41 (1992).
- Gibbons, K.M. "Toward an Attitudinal Definition of Corruption." In A. Heidenheimer, M. Johnston, and V.T. LeVine (eds.). *Political Corruption: A Handbook*. New Brunswick, New Jersey: Transaction Press, 1988, 165-71.
- Goodman, Timothy. "Political corruption: the payoff diminishes." American Enterprise 5(9): 19-27 (1994).
- Gould, David. Bureaucratic Corruption and Underdevelopment in the Third World: The Case of Zaire. New York: Pergamon Press, 1980.
- Gould, David J. and José A. Amaro Reyes. "The Effects of Corruption on Administrative Performance: Illustrations from Developing Countries." Staff Working Paper Number 580: Washington, D.C.: World Bank Management and Development Series Number 7, 1983.
- Gorta, Angela and Suzie Forell. *Unraveling Corruption: A Public Sector Perspective: A Survey of NSW Public Sector Employees' Understanding of Corruption and Their Willingness to Take Action.* Independent Commission Against Corruption Research Report No. 1: April 1994.

- Grabosky, Peter N. "Citizen coproduction and corruption control." Corruption and Reform 5: 125-51 (1990).
- Hancock, Graham. Lords of Poverty: The Power, Prestige, and Corruption of International Aid Business. Atlantic Monthly Press, 1989.
- Hao, Yufan and Michael Johnson. "Reform at the Crossroads: An Analysis of Chinese Corruption." *Asian Perspective* 19(1): 117-49 (1995).
- Harsch, E. "Accumulators and Democrats: Challenging State Corruption in Africa." *Journal of Modern African Studies* 31(1): 31-48 (1993).
- Hartlyn, Jonathan. "Crisis-ridden elections (again) in the Dominican Republic: neopatrimonialism, presidentialism, and weak electoral oversight." *Journal of InterAmerican Studies and World Affairs* 36(10): 911-44 (1994).
- Heidenheimer, Arnold J., M. Johnston, and V. T. Levine, eds. *Political Corruption: A Handbook*. New Brunswick and Oxford: Transaction Publishers, 1987.
- Henderson, Kimberly. Internal Controls. Berlin: Transparency International, 1995.
- Henderson, Kimberly. Whistleblowers. Berlin: Transparency International, 1995.
- Jabbra, J.G. "Bureaucratic Corruption in the Third World: Causes and Remedy." *Indian Journal of Public Administration* 22: 673-91 (October-December 1976).
- Jagannathan, N. Vijay. "Corruption, Delivery Systems, and Property Rights." World Development 14(1): 127-32 (1986).
- Johnston, Michael. "Corruption as a Process: Lessons for Analysis and Reform." Paper Presented at the Fifth International Anti-Corruption Conference, Amsterdam, 1992.
- Johnston, Michael. "Micro' and 'Macro' Possibilities for Reform." Corruption and Reform 7(3): 189-204 (1993).
- Johnston, Michael. "Patrons and Clients, Jobs and Machines: A Case Study of the Uses of Patronage." *American Political Science Review* 73(2): 385-98 (1979).
- Johnston, Michael. "The Political Consequences of Corruption: A Reassessment." Comparative Politics (July 1986).
- Johnston, Michael. Political Corruption and Public Policy in America. Monterey, California: Brooks/Cole Publishing Company, 1982.
- Johnston, Michael. "Public Officials, Private Interests and Sustainable Democracy: Connections between Politics and Corruption." Prepared for a conference on Corruption in the World Economy, Institute for International Economics, Washington, D.C.. April 17, 1996.
- Johnston, Michael. "What can be done about entrenched corruption?" Paper presented at the Annual Bank Conference on Development Economics, Washington D.C., 1997.
- Kahn, Charles and Emilson C.D. Silva. "Optimal Provision of Public Goods under Costly Exclusion and Corruption." IRIS Working Paper No. 118, July 1994.
- Kameir, ElWathig and Ibrahim Kursany. "Corruption as the Fifth Factor of Production in the Sudan" (1985).
- Kaufman, Daniel. "Diminishing Returns to Administrative Controls and the Emergence of the Unofficial Economy: A Framework of Analysis and Applications to Ukraine." *Economic Policy*. 51-69 (December, 1994).
- Daniel Kaufmann and Aleksander Kaliberda, "Integrating the Unofficial Economy into the Dynamics of Post-Socialist Economies." In B. Kaminiski, ed. *Economic Transition in Russia and the New States of Eurasia*. Armonk, New York (1996).
- Klitgaard, Robert. Adjusting to Reality: Beyond "State vs. Market" in Economic Development. San Francisco: ICS Press, 1991.

Klitgaard, Robert. "Cleaning Up and Invigorating the Civil Service." Report prepared for the Operations Evaluation Department of the World Bank (March 1997).

Klitgaard, Robert. Controlling Corruption. Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1988.

Klitgaard, Robert. Corruption in Mexico. Cambridge, Mass.: Kennedy School of Government, 1984.

Klitgaard, Robert. "A Framework for a Country Programme Against Corruption." *Accountability and Transparency in International Economic Development: The Launching of Transparency International* (Deutsche Stiftung für Internationale Entwicklung DSE; 1994) 55.

Klitgaard, Robert. "Strategies for Reform." Journal of Democracy, 2(4): 86-100 (1991).

Kotecha, Ken C. African Politics, the Corruption of Power. Washington, D.C.: University Press of America, 1981.

Kpundeh, Sahr John (ed.). Democratization in Africa: African Views, African Voices. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press, 1992.

Kpundeh, Sahr John. "Kleptocracy and the Culture of Corruption: The Political Economy of Mismanagement in Sierra Leone." Paper presented at the Canadian Association of African Studies, Montreal, May 25, 1996.

Kpundeh, Sahr John. Politics and Corruption in Africa: A Case Study of Sierra Leone. Lanham, Maryland: University Press of America, 1995.

Kpundeh, Sahr John. "Prospects in Contemporary Sierra Leone." Corruption and Reform 7: 237-47 (1993).

Kramer, John M. "Political Corruption in the USSR." Western Political Quarterly 213-24 (June 1977).

Krueger, Anne O. "The Political Economy of the Rent Seeking Society." American Economic Review 64: 291-303 (1974).

Langan, Patricia, and Brian Cooksey. "The National Integrity System in Tanzania." Washington, D.C.: EDI/World Bank, 1995.

Langseth, Petter. Civil Service Reform in Anglophone Africa. Washington, D.C.: EDI/World Bank, 1995.

Langseth, Petter. "Civil Service Reform in Uganda: Lessons Learned." EDI Working Papers Number 9505. Washington, D.C.: EDI/World Bank, 1995.

Langseth, Petter, ed. Uganda: Landmarks in Rebuilding a Nation. Kampala, Uganda: Fountain Publishers, 1995.

Leff, N. "Economic Development through Bureaucratic Corruption." American Behavioral Scientist (1964).

Leiken, Robert S. "Controlling the Global Corruption Epidemic." Foreign Policy 105 (Winter 1996/97).

Levi, M. and R. Sherman. "Rational Compliance with Rationalized Bureaucracy." Mimeo, 1995.

LeVine, V. Political Corruption: The Ghana Case. Stanford: Hoover Institution, 1975.

Leys, C. "What is the Problem about Corruption?" Journal of Modern African Studies 3(2): 215-24 (1965).

Little, Walter and E. Posada Carbo, eds. *Political Corruption in Europe and Latin America*. London: University of London Press, Institute of Latin American Studies series, 1996.

Lotspeich, Richard. "Crime in Transitional Economies." EuroAsia Studies 47(4): 555-89 (1995).

Maingot, Anthony. "Confronting Corruption in the Hemisphere." Journal of InterAmerican Studies (1994).

Makumbe, John. "Bureaucratic Corruption in Zimbabwe: Causes and Magnitude of the Problem." *Africa Development* 19(3): 45-60 (1994).

- Manion, Melanie. "Policy Instruments and Political Context: Transforming a Culture of Corruption in Hong Kong." Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Association for Asian Studies, 1996.
- Manzetti, Luigi. *Economic Reform and Corruption in Latin America*, North-South Issues, NorthSouth Center, University of Miami 3(1):1-6 (1994).
- Manzetti, Luigi and C. Blake. "Market Reforms and Corruption in Latin America: New Means for Old Ways." *Review of International Political Economy*, forthcoming.
- Mauro, Paolo. "Corruption and Growth." Quarterly Journal of Economics, 681-712, August 1995.
- Mauro, Paolo. "The Effects of Corruption on Growth, Investment, and Government Expenditure: A Cross Country Analysis." In Kimberly A. Elliot, ed. *Corruption and the Global Economy*. Washington, D.C.: Institute for International Economics, 1997.
- McKinney, J. and M. Johnston, eds., Fraud, Waste and Abuse in Government: Causes, Consequences and Cures. Philadelphia: ISHI Press, 1986.
- Meagher, Patrick. "Combating Corruption in Africa: Institutional Challenges and Responses." IRIS Working Paper No. 203, 1997.
- Mhembere, N and C. Rukobo. "Of Fraud and Corruption: Experiences of Other African Countries." Zimbabwe Institute of Public Administration and Management, 1992.
- Montias, J.M. and Susan Rose Ackerman. "Corruption in a Soviet-type Economy: Theoretical Considerations." In Steven Rosefielde, ed., *Economic Welfare and the Economics of Soviet Socialism: Essays in Honor of Abram Bergson.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1981.
- Moody-Stewart, George. "On Political Scandals and Corruption." Government and Opposition 15:2 (Spring 1980), 208-22.
- Moody-Stewart, George. Grand Corruption in Third World Development. Berlin, 1994.
- Morris, Steven. Corruption and Politics in Contemporary Mexico. Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press, 1991.
- Nadelmann, Ethan A. "The DEA in Latin America: Dealing with Institutionalized Corruption." *The Police Journal* 62(1): 31 (1996).
- Nadelmann, Ethan A. "The Drugs Enforcement Agency in Latin America: The Ins and Outs of Working Around Corruption, Part Two." *The Police Journal* 62(2): 157 (1989).
- Naim, Moises. "The Corruption Eruption." The Brown Journal of World Affairs 2(2): 24561 (1995).
- Nasaba, A.P.W. "Anti-corruption Legislation and Its Implementation." Integrity Workshop in Uganda II, Final Workshop Proceedings, Mukono, Uganda, 2728 November 1995.
- "The National Integrity System in Tanzania." Proceedings of a Workshop Convened by the Prevention of Corruption Bureau, Tanzania, August 1995.
- Neher, Clark D. "Political Corruption in a Thai Province." The Journal of Developing Areas 11(4): 484489 (July, 1977).
- Nye, Joseph. "Corruption and Political Development: A Cost Benefit Analysis." *American Political Science Review* (1967), p. 417.
- Ocampo, Luis Moreno. En Defensa Propria: Como Salir de la Corrupcion? Buenos Aires, 1993.
- Olowu, Dele. "Governmental Corruption and Africa's Democratization Efforts." *Journal of Corruption and Reform* 7(3): 227-36 (1993).
- Olowu, Dele. "Corruption in Nigeria: Causes, Consequences and Remedies." In S. Rasheed et al., eds. 1993.

- Olowu, Dele. "Organizational and Institutional Mechanisms for Ensuring Accountability in Africa: A Review." In S. Rasheed et al., eds. 1993.
- Olowu, Dele. "Bureaucratic Morality in Africa." International Political Science Review 9(1): 215229 (1988).
- Payne, Douglas W. "Latin America: Democracy and the Politics of Corruption." Freedom Review 24(1), 1993.
- Perlman, Luz. "Modernizing the Public Service of Latin America: Paradoxes of Latin American Public Administration." International Journal of Public Administration 12(4): 671-704 (1989).
- Philp, M. "Defining Corruption: An Analysis of the Republican Tradition." Paper presented to the International Political Science Association research round table on political finance and political corruption, Bellagio, Italy, 1987.
- Pope, Jeremy. "Elements of a Successful Anti-corruption Strategy." Integrity Workshop in Uganda II, Final Workshop Proceedings, Mukono, Uganda, 2728 November 1995.
- Pope, Jeremy. "Ethics, Transparency and Accountability." In Petter Langseth, ed. Civil Service Reform in Anglophone Africa. Washington, D.C.: EDI World Bank, 1995.
- Quah, Jon S.T. "Singapore's Experience in Curbing Corruption." In Arnold J. Heidenheimer, ed. *Political Corruption: A Handbook* New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers, 1989, 848-49.
- Quah, Jon S.T. "Bureaucratic Corruption in the ASEAN Countries: A Comparative Analysis of their Anti-corruption Strategies." *Journal of Southeast Asian Studies* 13(1): 153-77 (1982).
- Rasheed, Sadig and Dele Olowa, eds. *Ethics and Accountability in African Public Services*. African Association for Public Administration and Management, 1993.
- "Recommended Action Program for Enhancing Ethics, Transparency, Accountability and Combating Corruption." Report of a Workshop at Colline Hotel, Mukono, Uganda, 910 December 1994.
- Riley, Stephen P. "Postindependence Anti-corruption Strategies and the Contemporary Effects of Democratization." *Corruption and Reform* 7(3): 249-61 (1993).
- Riley, Stephen P. "The Land of Waving Palms: Political Economy, Corruption Inquiries and Politics in Sierra Leone." In M. Clarke, ed. *Corruption: Causes, Consequences, and Control.* London: Frances Pinter, 1983.
- Robinson, D. Civil Service Pay in Africa. Geneva: International Labour Office, 1990.
- Rose Ackerman, Susan. Corruption: A Study in Political Economy. New York: Academic Press, 1978.
- Rose Ackerman, Susan. "The Political Economy of Corruption." In Kimberly A. Elliot, ed. *Corruption and the Global Economy*. Washington, D.C.: Institute for International Economics, 1997.
- Rose Ackerman, Susan. "Reducing Bribery in the Public Sector." In Duc V. Trang, ed. *Corruption & Democracy*. Budapest: Institute for Constitutional and Legislative Policy, 1994, 21-8.
- Rose Ackerman, Susan. "When is Corruption Harmful?" Washington, D.C.: World Bank, 1996.
- Rubin, S.J. "International Aspects of the Control of Illicit Payments." *Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce* 9: 315 (1982).
- Ruzindana, Augustine, "Combating Corruption in Africa: The Case of Uganda." Paper delivered at the World Bank, Washington D.C., 23 November 1994.
- Salas, Luis, "Crime, corruption, and justice in Latin America." North/South: The Magazine of the Americas 3(2): 2733, 1994.
- Scott, James C. Comparative Political Corruption. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice Hall, 1972.

- Shleifer, Andrei and Robert W. Vishny. "Corruption." Quarterly Journal of Economics 108(3):599-617 (1993).
- Shleifer, Andrei, "Establishing Property Rights." Proceedings of the World Bank Annual Conference on Development Economics, 1994.
- Smith, Hedrick. "The Russians." *Processes and Corruption in Transition States in East Europe and the Former Soviet Union.*Budapest: Institute for Constitutional and Legislative Policy, 1994.
- Simis, Konstantin. USSR: The Corrupt Society. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1982.
- Sives, Amanda, "Elite's Behaviour and Corruption in the Consolidation of Democracy in Brazil." *Parliamentary Affairs* 46(4): 549, 1993.
- Sparks, Allister. "Mass Media and the Campaign Against Corruption." Paper delivered to the TI-Africa Leadership Forum Conference, Midrand, South Africa, 1 August, 1995.
- de Speville, B.E.D. "The Experience of Hong Kong in Combating Corruption." In Rick Stapenhurst and Sahr Kpundeh, eds. *Fighting Corruption: Lessons of Experience*. EDI Seminar Series, World Bank, forthcoming 1997.
- Stasavage, D. "Theoretical and Empirical Issues for Research on Corruption and Economic Growth." Mimeo, 1996.
- Szeftel, M, "Political Graft and the Spoils System in Zambiathe State as a Resource in Itself." *Review of African Political Economy* 24 (May/August 1982).
- Tanzi, Vito, "Corruption, Governmental Activities and Markets." IMF Working Paper, August 1994.
- Theobald, Robin, "Lancing the Swollen African State: Will it Alleviate the Problem of Corruption?" *The Journal of Modern African Studies*, Vol. 32, No. 4 (1994), 701-6.
- Theobald, Robin, Corruption, Development and Underdevelopment. Durham, North Carolina: Duke University Press, 1990.
- Thesing, Josef, and Wilhelm Hofmeister, eds. Financial Control in a Democracy. Konrad Adenauer Stiftung, 1995.
- Trang, Duc V. ed., Corruption & Democracy. Institute for Constitutional and Legislative Policy: Budapest, 1994.
- Transparency International. A National Integrity Source Book for Building More Transparent and Accountable Government. 1996.
- Ulloa, Fernando Cepeda. La corrupcion administrativa en Colombia: Diagnostico y recomendaciones para combatirla. Bogota: 1994.
- "Unraveling Corruption: A Public Sector Perspective: Survey of NSW Public Sector Employees' Understanding of Corruption and their Willingness to Take Action." ICAC Research Report Number 1, Independent Commission Against Corruption (NSW) (April, 1994).
- Wade, R. "The System of Administrative and Political Corruption: Canal Irrigation in South India." *Journal of Development Studies*. 1982.
- Whitehead, Laurence, "On Presidential Graft: the Latin American Evidence." In Michael Clark, ed. *Corruption: Causes, Consequences and Control*, 1983.
- Williams, Robert. Political Corruption in Africa. Aldershot, Hampshire, England; Brookfield, Vermont: Gower, 1987.
- Wraith, Ronald and Edgar Simpkins. Corruption in Developing Countries. London: Allen & Unwin, 1963.

OTHER TECHNICAL PUBLICATIONS FROM THE OFFICE OF DEMOCRACY AND GOVERNANCE

PN-ACB-895

Alternative Dispute Resolution Practitioners Guide

PN-ACM-001

Case Tracking and Management Guide

PN-ACC-887

Civil-military Relations: USAID's Role

PN-ACH-305

Conducting a DG Assessment: A Framework for Strategy Development

PN-ACH-300

Decentralization and Democratic Local Governance Programming Handbook

PN-ACD-395

Democracy and Governance: A Conceptual Framework

PN-ACC-390

Handbook of Democracy and Governance Program Indicators

PN-ACE-070

A Handbook on Fighting Corruption

PN-ACF-631

Managing Assistance in Support of Political and Electoral Processes

PN-ACE-630

The Role of Media in Democracy: A Strategic Approach

PN-ACF-632

USAID Handbook on Legislative Strengthening

PN-ACE-500

USAID Political Party Development Assistance

TO ORDER FROM THE DEVELOPMENT EXPERIENCE CLEARINGHOUSE:

- Please reference the document title and document identification number (listed above the document titles on this page and on the cover of this publication).
- USAID employees, USAID contractors overseas, and USAID sponsored organizations overseas may order documents at no charge.
- Universities, research centers, government offices, and other institutions located in developing countries may order up to five titles at no charge.
- All other institutions and individuals may purchase documents. Do not send payment. When applicable, reproduction and postage costs will be billed.

Fax orders to (703) 351-4039 **Attn:** USAID Development Experience Clearinghouse (DEC) **E-mail** orders to docorder@dec.cdie.org



PN-ACE-070

Center for Democracy and Governance

Bureau for Global Programs, Field Support, and Research U.S. Agency for International Development Washington, D.C. 20523-3100 Tel: (202) 712-4209

Fax: (202) 216-3232